
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Civil Action No.: ___________________ 
 
JULIE REISKIN, 
MELISSA MARSHALL, and 
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
UNIVERSITY OF NEVADA, LAS VEGAS FOUNDATION, and 
U. S. MOTELS DOWNTOWN, INC., 
 

Defendants. 
 
 

COMPLAINT 
 
 

Plaintiffs, Julie Reiskin, Melissa Marshall and the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition, by 

and through undersigned counsel, hereby bring this Complaint against the University of Nevada, 

Las Vegas Foundation and U. S. Motels Downtown, Inc., for violations of the Americans with 

Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. and the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act, 

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601 et seq. (“CADA”). 

Introduction  

1. On July 26, 1990, more than twenty years ago, the ADA was passed, establishing 

the most important civil rights law for people with disabilities in the nation’s history. 

2. The ADA was passed, in part, to ensure that people with disabilities are not 

discriminated against in access to places of public accommodation. 

3.      One of the purposes of the ADA is ensuring that individuals with disabilities who 
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use wheelchairs and motorized scooters for mobility are not denied the goods, services, facilities, 

privileges, advantages, and accommodations of hotels, motels and other places of lodging. 

4. Defendants own and/or operate the Ramada Denver Midtown hotel (“Hotel”), 

located at 2601 Zuni Street, Denver, Colorado 80211, near Interstate 25 and Speer Boulevard in 

Denver, Colorado. 

5. In 2010, United States Department of Justice revised the regulations applicable to 

hotels, in part, to address reservations of wheelchair accessible rooms for patrons who need them. 

In its “Guidance on Revisions to ADA Regulation on Nondiscrimination on the Basis of 

Disability,” the Department explained, “Each year the Department receives many complaints 

concerning failed reservations. Most of these complaints involve individuals who have reserved an 

accessible hotel room only to discover upon arrival that the room they reserved is either not 

available or not accessible.” 28 C.F.R., pt. 36, app. A. The Department continued: 

A number of these commenters [people with disabilities and organizations who 
represent them] pointed out that it can be difficult or impossible to obtain 
information about accessible rooms and hotel features and that even when 
information is provided it often is found to be incorrect upon arrival. They also 
noted difficulty reserving accessible rooms and the inability to guarantee or 
otherwise ensure that the appropriate accessible room is available when the guest 
arrives. The ability to obtain information about accessible guest rooms, to make 
reservations for accessible guest rooms in the same manner as other guests, and to 
be assured of an accessible room upon arrival was of critical importance to these 
commenters. 
 
. . .  
 
[To address this problem,] the Department has added § 36.302(e)(1)(iv) [Title 28 of 
the Code of Federal Regulations] to the final rule. Section 36.302(e)(1)(iv) requires 
covered entities to reserve, upon request, accessible guest rooms or specific types 
of guest rooms and ensure that the guest rooms requested are blocked and removed 
from all reservations systems (to eliminate double-booking, which is a common 
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problem that arises when rooms are made available to be reserved through more 
than one reservations service). 
 
. . . 
 
When a public accommodation does guarantee hotel or other room reservations, it 
must provide the same guarantee for accessible guest rooms as it makes for other 
rooms, except that it must apply that guarantee to the specific room reserved and 
blocked, even if in other situations, its guarantee policy only guarantees that a room 
of a specific type will be available at the guaranteed price. Without this reasonable 
modification to its guarantee policy, any guarantee for accessible rooms would be 
meaningless. 
 

Id. 
 
6. Despite the clear mandate of the ADA, Defendants have failed to ensure that the 

Hotel reserves and guarantees reservations for accessible rooms and have failed to remedy 

physical barriers to access. 

7. As a result, and as set forth more fully below, Defendants discriminated against Ms. 

Reiskin, Ms. Marshall and the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) on the basis of 

disability. 

8. Plaintiffs seek a court order compelling Defendants to comply with the ADA and 

CADA, monetary damages and the recovery of their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

9.      This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims in this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343 and pursuant to its pendent jurisdiction over claims brought under the 

laws of the State of Colorado. 

10. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

 Parties 
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11. Plaintiff Julie Reiskin is and was at all times material hereto a resident of Colorado. 

12. Ms. Reiskin is an individual with a disability who requires the use of a motorized 

wheelchair for mobility. 

13. Ms. Reiskin is a CCDC member, and its Executive Director. 

14. Plaintiff Melissa Marshall is and was at all times material hereto a resident of 

Connecticut. 

15. Ms. Marshall is an individual with a disability who uses a motorized scooter for 

mobility. 

16. Ms. Marshall is a CCDC member.

17. Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado non-profit 

corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their non-disabled allies. 

18. Defendant University of Nevada, Las Vegas Foundation (“UNLVF”) is a 

non-profit corporation, incorporated in the state of Nevada with its principal place of business at 

4505 South Maryland Parkway, Las Vegas, Nevada 89154-1006. 

19. Defendant UNLVF owns the Ramada Denver Midtown hotel (“Hotel”) at 2601 

Zuni Street in Denver, Colorado. 

20. Defendant U. S. Motels Downtown, Inc. is a Colorado corporation with its 

principal place of business at10 East 120th Avenue, Northglenn, Colorado 80233. 

21. Defendant U. S. Motels Downtown, Inc. operates the Hotel. 

Facts 

22. Ms. Marshall is a nationally renowned expert in disability policy. 
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23. Ms. Marshall has been the Executive Director of several disability rights 

organizations and has operated businesses that provide consulting and training on 

disability-related policies and the requirements of civil rights laws that protect the rights of people 

with disabilities. 

24. Ms. Marshall holds a Juris Doctor degree. 

25. At times material to this Complaint and currently, Ms. Marshall was and is the sole 

proprietor of Melissa Marshall Disability Policy Consulting. 

26. To fulfill a contract with the State of Colorado Department of Health Care Policy 

and Financing (“Department”), CCDC hired Ms. Marshall to provide training to Department staff 

in Denver, Colorado. 

27. Ms. Marshall’s training of Department staff was scheduled to occur in June of 

2014. 

28. In anticipation of Ms. Marshall travelling to and staying in Denver, CCDC’s 

Executive Assistant, Marlene Murillo, contacted the Hotel to reserve a wheelchair accessible room 

for Ms. Marshall. 

29. CCDC’s Executive Director, Julie Reiskin, and Ms. Murillo selected Defendants’ 

Hotel because of its close proximity to Ms. Marshall’s training site and major public transportation 

routes, which is what Ms. Marshall planned to use to travel while she was in Denver. 

30. Upon learning of the Hotel location and its proximity to public transportation 

routes, Ms. Marshall opted to bring her smaller motorized scooter, which has a range of 

approximately 1 to 5 miles, versus her larger motorized scooter, which has a range of 
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approximately 20 miles. 

31.  Weeks prior to Ms. Marshall’s arrival, Ms. Murillo called the Hotel and reserved a 

wheelchair accessible room for Ms. Marshall from June 17 to June 21, 2014. 

32. Ms. Murillo provided CCDC’s credit card information to the Hotel to secure Ms. 

Marshall’s room. 

33. On May 23, 2014, Ms. Murillo received an e-mail from the Hotel confirming the 

reservation. 

34. Shortly after making the reservation for Ms. Marshall’s room, Ms. Murillo 

personally visited the Hotel to provide CCDC’s non-profit organization tax exemption 

information. 

35. While Ms. Murillo was at the Hotel, she spoke with a woman at the Hotel front desk 

who verified that the reservation that Ms. Murillo had made for Ms. Marshall was for a wheelchair 

accessible room. 

36. On the evening of June 16, 2014, the day before Ms. Marshall was scheduled to 

arrive in Denver, Ms. Reiskin e-mailed Ms. Murillo and requested that Ms. Murillo call the Hotel 

to ensure that an accessible room would be available for Ms. Marshall. 

37. That evening, Ms. Murillo called the Hotel and spoke with a woman at the front 

desk. 

38. Ms. Murillo informed the woman at the front desk that she wanted to verify that 

Ms. Marshall’s room would, in fact, be wheelchair accessible and available. 

39. The woman put Ms. Murillo on hold for a brief period. 
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40. Upon returning to the phone, the woman then asked Ms. Murillo what time Ms. 

Marshall would arrive on June 17, and Ms. Murillo responded that Ms. Marshall’s plane was 

scheduled to land at approximately 6:30 p.m. 

41. On its website,1 the Hotel informs patrons that check out is to occur before 12:00 

p.m., and that check in is to occur after 3:00 p.m. 

42. The woman told Ms. Murillo that one of the accessible rooms would be available 

on the evening of June 17, 2014, as the individual who reserved the room would check out that 

afternoon, and the room would be cleaned by approximately 5:00 p.m. 

43. Ms. Murillo then e-mailed Ms. Reiskin to verify that she had contacted the Hotel 

and had been assured that Ms. Marshall’s room would be both available and wheelchair accessible. 

44. On June 17, 2014, after an unanticipated delay at the airport, Ms. Marshall, 

accompanied by Ms. Reiskin, arrived at the Hotel at approximately 10:00 p.m. 

45. Upon arriving, Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall searched for an accessible entrance to 

the Hotel. 

46. According to the Hotel’s website, there is “[f]lat terrain between parking and 

entrance[,]”the “Hotel entrance is wheel [sic] accessible[,]” and “Ramp Access[.]” 

47. Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall were unable to use the main, front doors of the Hotel 

because there was no flat terrain, curb ramp or ramp leading from the sidewalk or parking lot up 

the curb to the Hotel’s front doors. 

48. Instead, there is a two-and-a-half to five inch curb all the way around the sidewalk 
                                                                                 

   1   http://www.ramada.com/hotels/colorado/denver/ramada-denver-midtown/hotel-overview (last 
accessed December 23, 2014). 
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surrounding the Hotel’s front entrance. 

49. There was no signage on the Hotel lobby entrance indicating the location of an 

accessible route into the Hotel, causing Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall to nearly circumnavigate the 

Hotel, travelling through a parking lot in the dark in hopes of locating an entrance to the Hotel they 

could use. 

50. Even if an individual who uses a wheelchair or scooter could access the Southeast 

front entrance or the North lobby entrance, there are stairs, making the front desk inaccessible from 

these entrances. 

51. Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall finally located an unmarked, poorly lit single door in 

the rear of the Hotel that allowed them access. 

52. Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall entered the back door of the Hotel and encountered a 

small elevator, which would only accommodate one wheelchair at a time.   

53. Ms. Reiskin went down the elevator first, and upon exiting the elevator, went to the 

Hotel’s front desk. 

54. Ms. Reiskin immediately noticed that there was no lowered portion of the Hotel’s 

front desk that would be accessible to an individual who uses a wheelchair. 

55. On information and belief, the Hotel has undergone renovations since January 26, 

1992. 

56. Once the Hotel front desk clerk directed her attention to Ms. Reiskin, Ms. Reiskin 

informed her that she was there with Ms. Marshall, who was there to check in. 

57. The front desk clerk informed Ms. Reiskin that the Hotel had given Ms. Marshall’s 
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wheelchair accessible room to another Hotel patron. 

58. The front desk clerk did not offer any other accommodation. 

59. Ms. Reiskin immediately protested and informed the clerk that Ms. Marshall 

required a wheelchair accessible room, and that CCDC had repeatedly communicated with the 

Hotel in order to ensure that Ms. Marshall’s room would be wheelchair accessible and available. 

60. Although the front desk clerk agreed that CCDC had reserved a wheelchair 

accessible room, she informed Ms. Reiskin that the reservation only constituted a request for a 

wheelchair accessible room, which did not guarantee that a wheelchair accessible room would, in 

fact, be available. 

61. The front desk clerk also informed Ms. Reiskin that the individual who was 

scheduled to leave the wheelchair accessible room decided to stay over, and that the Hotel allowed 

that Hotel patron to do so, despite the reservation for the wheelchair accessible room that had been 

made for Ms. Marshall. 

62. Ms. Reiskin then requested that the Hotel front desk clerk contact nearby hotels to 

see if any had a wheelchair accessible room available, but the clerk refused. 

63. Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall then left the Hotel and went to nearby hotels to 

attempt to find a wheelchair accessible room elsewhere. 

64. Despite these efforts, they were unable to locate another wheelchair accessible 

room for the night, and thus Ms. Marshall ended up staying in a room that was not designed to be 

wheelchair accessible at a different hotel near Defendants’ Hotel for the night.  

65. The ADA requires that accessible hotel rooms provide much more room for a 
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patron who uses a wheelchair or scooter to navigate within the room and in the bathroom. Ms. 

Marshall found it very difficult to navigate in the room she ended up using that night because 

Defendants did not provide her with the wheelchair accessible room she had reserved. 

66. The following day, June 17, 2014, Ms. Murillo spent several hours making 

telephone calls and conducting internet searches in order to find a wheelchair accessible room for 

the remainder of Ms. Marshall’s stay. 

67. Ms. Murillo was able to secure a wheelchair accessible room for the duration of 

Ms. Marshall’s stay at a third hotel. 

68. The third hotel was not located near the Department of Health Care Policy and 

Financing training site, and it was not near public transportation routes (one of the key reasons 

why the Hotel was selected in the first place), which caused Ms. Marshall to spend additional time 

travelling in her motorized scooter, including travelling in her scooter in bike lanes and travelling 

in her scooter outside in bad weather. 

69. Defendants’ Hotel offers shuttle service to guests to the downtown area in Denver. 

70. The vehicle Defendants utilize as a shuttle is not accessible to individuals who use 

wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility. 

71. The Hotel shuttle does not provide a ramp or wheelchair lift that would allow a 

Hotel patron who uses a wheelchair or scooter to access the vehicle. 

72. Defendants’ website states that hotel patrons may, “[m]ake an appointment to take 

our free shuttle to downtown Denver attractions and sports venue from 9 a.m. to 9 p.m. daily.” 
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73. Defendants claim to provide equivalent service to individuals in wheelchairs and 

motorized scooters by contacting local taxi companies, Metro Taxi and Union Taxi, to request 

wheelchair accessible transportation. 

74. Union Taxi does not provide wheelchair accessible taxi service. 

75. Ms. Reiskin and several other CCDC members who use wheelchairs have 

attempted to utilize Metro Taxi’s wheelchair accessible taxi service on multiple occasions, both 

privately and via the Regional Transportation District’s (“RTD”) Access-a-Cab program, which 

can be used by individuals who qualify for the RTD Access-a-Ride program, a paratransit service 

provided by RTD, as required by the ADA for individuals with disabilities who cannot use the 

regular fixed-route bus system. The use of wheelchair accessible taxis by RTD’s Access-a-Cab 

program makes the few wheelchair accessible taxis even less available. 

76. Metro Taxi’s service for individuals who do not need wheelchair access happens in 

a short period of time from the time the call for the taxi is placed and the time the taxi arrives to 

provide service. 

77. Metro Taxi’s service for individuals who use wheelchairs and motorized scooters 

often takes several hours to respond to requests for accessible taxis, and in some instances, Metro 

Taxi does not have any accessible taxis available at all.  

78. Often, when an individual who uses a wheelchair or motorized scooter calls Metro 

Taxi and requests a wheelchair accessible vehicle, Metro Taxi will respond by saying they will 

“try” to find a wheelchair accessible vehicle, but there is no guarantee that such a vehicle will be 

provided. 
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79. When the Hotel shuttle is operating, guests who do not use wheelchairs or 

motorized scooters for mobility are not forced to make a request for transportation and then to wait 

several hours for transportation, or faced with the prospect that no transportation will be available 

at all. 

80. There are no accessible parking spaces near the front entrance of the lobby of the 

Hotel. 

81. There are designated accessible parking spaces on the other side of the building 

from where the Hotel lobby is located. 

82. There is one space that is designated as van accessible that has an adjacent access 

aisle; however, on information and belief, that access aisle is not 96 inches wide, and the parking 

space is approximately 96 inches wide. 

83. None of the designated accessible spaces, other than the single designated van 

accessible space, has an adjacent 96 inches wide access aisle. 

84. None of the designated accessible spaces is 132 inches wide with an adjacent 60 

inch wide access aisle. 

85. None of the designated accessible parking spaces has an adjacent 96 inch wide 

access aisle. 

86. Except for the van space mentioned above, the designated accessible parking 

spaces have no access aisles at all. 

87. CCDC is a statewide organization based in Denver, Colorado. 

88. CCDC’s office is located approximately three miles from the Hotel, directly 
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Southeast on Speer Boulevard. 

89. CCDC hosts several events throughout the year, including an annual statewide 

meeting in Denver, for which CCDC assists its members from outside of the Denver metropolitan 

area with making reservations for, securing, and paying for wheelchair accessible hotel rooms. 

90. As in this case, CCDC also hosts multiple individuals who use wheelchairs or 

scooters from outside of the Denver metropolitan area as guests at its events, to provide trainings, 

and to otherwise fulfill CCDC’s organizational objectives. CCDC assists with making 

reservations, securing, and paying for wheelchair accessible hotel rooms for these individuals. 

91. CCDC uses nearby hotels for its conferences and meetings.  

92. According to its website, the Hotel provides meeting and event facilities. 

93. The location of the Hotel is beneficial to CCDC for the types of events, meetings 

and other activities it undertakes. 

94. The location of the Hotel is beneficial for CCDC when it hosts out-of-town guests 

because of its close proximity to CCDC’s office. 

95. CCDC would like to utilize the Hotel’s services in the future and will do so if 

Defendants remedy the unlawful disability discrimination set forth in this Complaint 

96. Ms. Reiskin occasionally must stay at hotels in the Denver metropolitan area for 

numerous reasons, including without limitation when inclement weather prevents her from 

travelling to her home, and when she does, she requires a wheelchair accessible room. 

97. Ms. Reiskin would like to utilize the Hotel’s services in the future and will do so if 

Defendants remedy the unlawful disability discrimination set forth in this Complaint. 
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98. Ms. Marshall travels to the Denver metropolitan area for numerous reasons, 

including without limitation to visit friends and provide consulting services, and when she does, 

she requires a wheelchair accessible room. 

99. Ms. Marshall will travel to the Denver Metropolitan area in the near future. 

100. Ms. Marshall would like to utilize the Hotel’s services in the future and will do so if 

Defendants remedy the unlawful disability discrimination set forth in this Complaint. 

101. Ms. Marshall, Ms. Reiskin and CCDC have been harmed and will continue to be 

harmed by Defendants’ failure to guarantee and reserve wheelchair accessible rooms and refusal to 

make other readily achievable modifications at the Hotel. 

102. CCDC’s purpose is to promote independence, self-reliance, and full participation 

for people with all types of disabilities, and to combat discrimination against individuals with 

disabilities, through advocacy, education, research and training. As a part of that purpose, CCDC 

seeks to ensure that individuals with disabilities have access to -- and do not encounter 

discrimination in -- enjoying the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, and 

accommodations of places of public accommodation, including hotels. 

103. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts to 

promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities. This effort and this 

purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by Defendants’ violations of the ADA 

and CADA. 

104. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable and 

perceptible injury to Ms. Marshall, Ms. Reiskin and CCDC. Those injuries include, but are not 

Case 1:14-cv-03476   Document 1   Filed 12/26/14   USDC Colorado   Page 14 of 27



 
 15 

limited to, those described herein. 

First Claim for Relief 
(Violations of Title III of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12181 et seq.) 

 
105. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations set 

forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

106. Title III of the ADA provides, “No individual shall be discriminated against on the 

basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, 

advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any person who owns, 

leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public accommodation.” 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a). 

107. Defendant University of Nevada, Las Vegas Foundation owns the Hotel. 

108. Defendant U. S. Motels Downtown, Inc. operates the Hotel. 

109. The Hotel is a place of public accommodation. 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(A). 

110. Ms. Marshall and Ms. Reiskin are individuals with disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 12102. 

111. Ms. Marshall, Ms. Reiskin and CCDC were discriminated against on the basis of 

disability by the owners and operators of the Hotel. 

112. Ms. Marshall was denied access to the Hotel’s goods, services, facilities, 

privileges, advantages and accommodations due to the Hotel’s failure to guarantee and reserve for 

her a wheelchair accessible room. 

113. Under the ADA: 

It shall be discriminatory to subject an individual or class of individuals on the basis 
of a disability or disabilities of such individual or class, directly, or through 
contractual licensing, or other arrangements, to a denial of the opportunity of the 
individual or class to participate in or benefit from the goods, services, facilities, 
privileges, advantages, or accommodations of an entity. 
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42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(1)(A)(i). 
 

114. Pursuant to the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) regulations 

implementing the ADA: 

A public accommodation that owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of 
lodging shall, with respect to reservations made by any means, including by 
telephone, in-person, or through a third party . . . 
 

(iii) Ensure that accessible guest rooms are held for use by individuals with 
disabilities until all other guest rooms of that type have been rented and the 
accessible room requested is the only remaining room of that type; 
(iv) Reserve, upon request, accessible guest rooms or specific types of guest 
rooms and ensure that the guest rooms requested are blocked and removed 
from all reservation systems; and 
(v) Guarantee that the specific accessible guest room reserved through its 
reservations service is held for the reserving customer, regardless of 
whether a specific room is held in response to reservations made by others. 

 
28 C.F.R. § 36.302(e)(1). 

115. The DOJ has issued technical assistance and guidance made publicly available on 

the internet that addresses changes to the 2010 regulations. See, e.g. “Fact Sheet: Highlights of the 

Final Rule to Amend the Department of Justice’s Regulation Implementing Title III of the ADA.” 

116. In this Fact Sheet, the DOJ summarizes its rule changes with respect to wheelchair 

accessible hotel room reservations as follows: 

8. Reservations Made by Places of Lodging. The rule establishes requirements for 
reservations made by places of lodging, including procedures that will allow 
individuals with disabilities to make reservations for accessible guest rooms during 
the same hours and in the same manner as other guests, and requirements that will 
require places of lodging to identify and describe accessible features of a guest 
room, to hold back the accessible guest rooms for people with disabilities until all 
other guest rooms of that type have been rented, and to ensure that a reserved 
accessible guest room is removed from all reservations systems so that it is not 
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inadvertently released to someone other than the person who reserved the 
accessible room. 
 

See http://www.ada.gov/regs2010/factsheets/title3_factsheet.html (emphasis added) (last accessed 

December 12, 2014). See also 28 C.F.R, pt. 36, app. A (Guidance on Revisions to ADA Regulation 

on Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability by Public Accommodations And Commercial 

Facilities) (“When a public accommodation does guarantee hotel or other room reservations, it 

must provide the same guarantee for accessible guest rooms as it makes for other rooms, except 

that it must apply that guarantee to the specific room reserved and blocked, even if in other 

situations, its guarantee policy only guarantees that a room of a specific type will be available at 

the guaranteed price. Without this reasonable modification to its guarantee policy, any guarantee 

for accessible rooms would be meaningless.”). 

117.  According to another informational bulletin available for free online from the DOJ 

entitled “Expanding Your Market: Accessible Customer Service Practices for Hotel and Lodging 

Guests with Disabilities,” with respect to “Reservations,” states the following: 

Once an accessible room is guaranteed to a prospective guest with a disability, an 
accessible room must be available to him or her upon arrival at the hotel. If an 
unexpected problem occurs that makes it impossible for the hotel to provide the 
accessible room promised, the hotel should make every reasonable effort to locate a 
comparable accessible room in the hotel or in another local establishment and cover 
cost differences, if they occur.2 
 
118. Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall were subject to discrimination by the Hotel on the 

basis of their disabilities due to the multiple physical barriers to access they encountered, including 

without limitation the inaccessibility of the front entrance, the lack of signage indicating the 

                                                                                 

  2   See http://www.ada.gov/accesscust.htm (last accessed December 23, 2014). 
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location of an accessible route and entrance, and the lack of a lowered accessible portion of the 

Hotel front counter. 

119. Under the ADA, portions of existing facilities, such as the Hotel, that are altered 

“after January 26, 1992, shall be made so as to ensure that, to the maximum extent feasible, the 

altered portions of the facility are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, 

including individuals who use wheelchairs.” 28 C.F.R. § 36.402(a)(1), 42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(2) 

(“with respect to a facility or part thereof that is altered by, on behalf of, or for the use of an 

establishment in a manner that affects or could affect the usability of the facility or part thereof, a 

failure to make alterations in such a manner that, to the maximum extent feasible, the altered 

portions of the facility are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, 

including individuals who use wheelchairs.”). 

120. On information and belief, Defendants have failed to ensure that portions of its 

facility altered since January 26, 1992, are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with 

disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs. 

121. Moreover, “[a] public accommodation shall remove architectural barriers in 

existing facilities . . . where such removal is readily achievable, i.e., easily accomplishable and 

able to be carried out without much difficulty or expense.” 28 C.F.R. § 36.304(a). 

122. Among the specifically identified steps the DOJ lists as examples of readily 

achievable barrier removal are: 

(1) Installing ramps; [and] 
(2) Making curb cuts in sidewalks and entrances[.] 

 
28 C.F.R. § 36.304(b)(1)-(2). 
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123. The DOJ has prioritized the measures a public accommodation is urged to take to 

comply with the barrier removal requirements. As set forth in the regulations, “First, a public 

accommodation should take measures to provide access to a place of public accommodation from 

public sidewalks, parking, or public transportation. These measures include, for example, 

installing an entrance ramp, widening entrances, and providing accessible parking spaces.” 28 

C.F.R. § 36.304(c)(1). 

124. The DOJ Standards for Accessible Design require that sales and service counters 

provide a space that is accessible to customers who use wheelchairs, which is no higher than 36 

inches above the floor. Standards for Accessible Design §§ 904.4.1 and 904.4.2. 

125. If the service counter at the Hotel was renovated at any time after 1992, it should 

have been made accessible to customers who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters. 

126. On information and belief, it was readily achievable for Defendants to make the 

Hotel service counter accessible to patrons who use wheelchairs and scooters long before Ms. 

Reiskin and Ms. Marshall visited the Hotel. 

127. On information and belief, Defendants have recently modified the Hotel’s service 

counter. 

128. When Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall went to the Hotel, the service counter did not 

provide an accessible portion. 

129. “Where not all entrances [are wheelchair accessible], entrances [that are wheelchair 

accessible] shall be identified by the International Symbol of Accessibility . . . . Directional signs  

. . . that indicate the location of the nearest [wheelchair accessible] entrance    . . . shall be 
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provided at entrances that [are not wheelchair accessible]. Standards for Accessible Design § 

216.6. 

130. The front Southeast entrance of the Hotel leads to stairs, making it so there is no 

accessible way into the hotel from this entrance. 

131. There was no signage at the Hotel’s inaccessible front Southeast entrance 

indicating where a wheelchair accessible route or accessible entrance was located. 

132. There is another entrance on the North side of the Hotel.  

133. The North entrance also leads to stairs, and there is no accessible route to the Hotel 

lobby by that entrance. 

134. There was no signage at the Hotel’s inaccessible North entrance directing patrons 

who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters to a wheelchair accessible route or accessible entrance. 

135. There was no signage at the Hotel’s West back door indicating where a wheelchair 

accessible entrance was located. 

136. On information and belief, it was and has been readily achievable for Defendants to 

install ADA-compliant signage at the Hotel indicating the location of wheelchair accessible routes 

and entrances. 

137. Defendants have failed to remove architectural barriers at the Hotel when it was 

readily achievable for them to do so, as set forth in this Complaint. 

138. In existing facilities (those in existence prior to 1990 when the ADA was enacted), 

places of public accommodation are required to, inter alia, provide accessible parking spaces with 
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access aisles if doing so is readily achievable. 42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(2)(A)(iv); 28 C.F.R. § 

36.304(a).  

139. An accessible parking space is one that is 96 inches wide with an adjacent access 

aisle of 60 inches in width; a van parking space is at least 132 inches wide with a 60 inch wide 

access aisle or 96 inches wide with an adjacent 96 inch access aisle. 28 C.F.R. § 36.304(d)(1); 28 

C.F.R., pt. 36, app. D § 4.6; 36 C.F.R. pt. 1191, app. D §§ 502.2, 502.3. 

140. On information and belief, it was and is readily achievable for Defendants to install 

ADA-compliant accessible parking spaces and access aisles at the Hotel. 

141. Ms. Reiskin and CCDC have been subjected to discrimination on the basis of their 

relationship and association with Ms. Marshall. See 42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(1)(E) (“It shall be 

discriminatory to exclude or otherwise deny equal goods, services, facilities, privileges, 

advantages, accommodations, or other opportunities to an individual or entity because of the 

known disability of an individual with whom the individual or entity is known to have a 

relationship or association.”). See also 28 C.F.R. § 36.205. 

142. On information and belief, the Hotel shuttle operates on a fixed route, travelling 

from the Hotel to downtown Denver, and back, on approximately an hourly basis. 

143. The Hotel shuttle seats approximately seven individuals, plus a driver. 

144. Ms. Reiskin and other CCDC members who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters 

for mobility are unable to utilize the Hotel shuttle service because the vehicle is not accessible to 

individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility. 

145. Under the ADA: 
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If a private entity which operates a fixed route system and which is not [primarily 
engaged in the business of transporting people] purchases or leases a vehicle with a 
seating capacity of 16 passengers or less (including the driver) for use on such 
system after the effective date of this subparagraph that is not readily accessible to 
or usable by individuals with disabilities, it shall be considered discrimination for 
such entity to fail to operate such system so that, when viewed in its entirety, such 
system ensures a level of service to individuals with disabilities, including 
individuals who use wheelchairs, equivalent to the level of service provided to 
individuals without disabilities. 
 

42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(2)(B)(ii) (emphasis added). 
 
146. On information and belief, Defendants do not provide an equivalent level of service 

to individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters, 

as they provide to patrons who do not have disabilities with their inaccessible shuttle service. 

147. Pursuant to the DOJ regulations, “[a] public accommodation subject to this section 

shall comply with the requirements pertaining to vehicles and transportation systems in the 

regulations issued by the Secretary of Transportation pursuant to [the ADA].” 28 C.F.R. § 

36.310(c). 

148. Pursuant to the regulations promulgated by the Secretary of Transportation, “[t]he 

standards of § 37.105 [of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations] shall be used to determine if the 

entity is providing equivalent service.” 49 C.F.R. § 37.171. 

149. Section 37.105 of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, sets forth service 

characteristics which shall be equivalent to avoid discrimination, including “(1) 

Schedules/headways (if the service is fixed route); [and] (2) Response time (if the service is 

demand responsive)[.]”  
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150. Defendants do not operate the shuttle service for Hotel patrons who have 

disabilities that prevent them from accessing the Hotel shuttle that is equivalent with respect to 

schedules/headways and response times. 

151. The equivalent service standard also requires that the Hotel’s transportation service 

for individuals who use wheelchairs and scooters be equivalent with respect to the following: 

“Hours and days of service; Availability of information;” and “Reservations capability (if the 

system is demand responsive)[.]” 49 C.F.R. § 37.105(d)-(f). 

152. Defendants do not operate a shuttle service that is equivalent with respect to the 

hours and days of service the Hotel shuttle operates for Hotel patrons who have disabilities that 

prevent them from accessing the Hotel shuttle.  

153. Defendants do not make information regarding how to access Hotel transportation 

available to Hotel patrons who have disabilities that prevent them from accessing the Hotel shuttle. 

154. Defendants require Hotel patrons who cannot access the Hotel shuttle to request 

that the Hotel contact a taxi company to try to reserve a wheelchair accessible vehicle when all 

other Hotel patrons simply board the fixed route shuttle that runs between the Hotel and downtown 

Denver on an hourly basis. 

155. Defendants’ utilization of a demand responsive service in lieu of its regularly 

operating, fixed route service results in inequalities in service between non-disabled individuals 

who can simply use the Hotel’s fixed route system and individuals who, due to their disabilities, 

must rely on an entirely different type of service. 
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156. Individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility are forced to 

request that the Hotel request a wheelchair accessible taxi, then wait an indeterminate amount of 

time for a wheelchair accessible taxi service to fulfill the request, while individuals who do not 

have disabilities necessitating the use of such mobility devices do not need to notify the Hotel staff 

in advance, wait for the Hotel staff to contact a third-party, and wait for transportation for an 

indeterminable amount of time. 

157. Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiffs on the basis of disability as set 

forth in this Complaint. 

158. Plaintiffs have been, and will continue to be, injured, damaged and aggrieved by 

Defendants’ discrimination. 

159. In the absence of the injunction sought herein, Plaintiffs are likely to encounter the 

same discriminatory treatment in violation of Title III of the ADA and its implementing 

regulations. 

160. The participation of individual CCDC members is not necessary to grant the relief 

sought herein. 

Second Claim for Relief 
(Violations of the CADA, Colo. Rev. Stat §§ 24-34-601 et seq.) 

 
161.    Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations set 

forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

162.    The Hotel is a place of public accommodation. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(1). 

163.    Under the CADA, “[i]t is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for a person, 

directly or indirectly, to refuse, withhold from, or deny to an individual or a group, because of 
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disability . . . the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, 

or accommodations of a place of public accommodation . . . .” Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(2). 

164.    Pursuant to the regulations implementing the CADA during the incidents giving 

rise to this Complaint: 

Whenever possible, the interpretation of state law [the provisions of Parts 3 through 
7 of Article 34 of Title 24, C.R.S. (1988), as amended] concerning disability shall 
follow the interpretations established in Federal regulations adopted to implement 
the Americans with Disabilities Act and . . . in the Federal case law interpreting the 
Americans with Disabilities Act . . . .” 

 
3 Colo. Code Regs. 708-1:60.1.(C) (bracketed text in original). 
 

165.     Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall are individuals with disabilities. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 

24-34-301(2.5).  

166.     CCDC is a membership organization consisting of people with disabilities and 

their non-disabled allies who, because of Defendants’ discrimination, remain subject to unlawful 

disability discrimination.  

167.     Defendants have unlawfully discriminated against Plaintiffs on the basis of their 

disabilities as set forth in this Complaint. 

168.     Plaintiffs have been, and will continue to be, injured, damaged and aggrieved by 

Defendants’ discrimination. 

169.     In the absence of the injunction sought herein, Plaintiffs are likely to encounter 

Defendants’ same discriminatory actions and facilities.  

Prayer for Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray: 
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1. That this Court assume jurisdiction; 

2. That this Court issue an Order declaring Defendants to be in violation of Title III of 

the ADA and in violation of the CADA; 

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants:  (a) to ensure that 

wheelchair accessible rooms are guaranteed when reserved by or for individuals with disabilities; 

(b) to make any and all alterations that were made by Defendants since the effective date of the 

ADA fully compliant with the ADA; (c) to remove all existing barriers to accessibility for 

individuals who use wheelchairs and scooters that have not been altered to the extent that it is 

readily achievable to do so; and (d) to ensure equivalent service as required by the ADA and its 

implementing regulations to individuals with disabilities with regard to the Hotel shuttle; 

4. That this Court award Plaintiffs damages; 

5. That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper 

and equitable. 

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiffs request this case be heard by a jury. 
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Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Andrew C. Montoya       
Andrew C. Montoya 
Kevin W. Williams 
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition 
655 Broadway, Suite 775 
Denver, Colorado 80203 
Phone: (303) 839-1775 
Facsimile: (720) 210-9819 
E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org 
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org 
 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Dated: December 26, 2014 

 
Address of Plaintiff Julie Reiskin: 
 
3645 Milwaukee Street 
Denver, Colorado 80205 
 
Address of Plaintiff Melissa Marshall: 
 
10 West Normandy Drive 
West Hartford, Connecticut 06107  
 
Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition: 
 
655 Broadway, Suite 775 
Denver, Colorado 80203 
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	1. On July 26, 1990, more than twenty years ago, the ADA was passed, establishing the most important civil rights law for people with disabilities in the nation’s history.
	2. The ADA was passed, in part, to ensure that people with disabilities are not discriminated against in access to places of public accommodation.
	3.      One of the purposes of the ADA is ensuring that individuals with disabilities who use wheelchairs and motorized scooters for mobility are not denied the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, and accommodations of hotels, motels ...
	4. Defendants own and/or operate the Ramada Denver Midtown hotel (“Hotel”), located at 2601 Zuni Street, Denver, Colorado 80211, near Interstate 25 and Speer Boulevard in Denver, Colorado.
	5. In 2010, United States Department of Justice revised the regulations applicable to hotels, in part, to address reservations of wheelchair accessible rooms for patrons who need them. In its “Guidance on Revisions to ADA Regulation on Nondiscriminati...
	A number of these commenters [people with disabilities and organizations who represent them] pointed out that it can be difficult or impossible to obtain information about accessible rooms and hotel features and that even when information is provided ...
	. . .
	[To address this problem,] the Department has added § 36.302(e)(1)(iv) [Title 28 of the Code of Federal Regulations] to the final rule. Section 36.302(e)(1)(iv) requires covered entities to reserve, upon request, accessible guest rooms or specific typ...
	. . .
	When a public accommodation does guarantee hotel or other room reservations, it must provide the same guarantee for accessible guest rooms as it makes for other rooms, except that it must apply that guarantee to the specific room reserved and blocked,...
	Id.
	6. Despite the clear mandate of the ADA, Defendants have failed to ensure that the Hotel reserves and guarantees reservations for accessible rooms and have failed to remedy physical barriers to access.
	7. As a result, and as set forth more fully below, Defendants discriminated against Ms. Reiskin, Ms. Marshall and the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) on the basis of disability.
	8. Plaintiffs seek a court order compelling Defendants to comply with the ADA and CADA, monetary damages and the recovery of their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.
	9.      This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims in this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343 and pursuant to its pendent jurisdiction over claims brought under the laws of the State of Colorado.
	10. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.
	11. Plaintiff Julie Reiskin is and was at all times material hereto a resident of Colorado.
	12. Ms. Reiskin is an individual with a disability who requires the use of a motorized wheelchair for mobility.
	13. Ms. Reiskin is a CCDC member, and its Executive Director.
	14. Plaintiff Melissa Marshall is and was at all times material hereto a resident of Connecticut.
	15. Ms. Marshall is an individual with a disability who uses a motorized scooter for mobility.
	16. Ms. Marshall is a CCDC member.
	17. Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado non-profit corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their non-disabled allies.
	18. Defendant University of Nevada, Las Vegas Foundation (“UNLVF”) is a non-profit corporation, incorporated in the state of Nevada with its principal place of business at 4505 South Maryland Parkway, Las Vegas, Nevada 89154-1006.
	19. Defendant UNLVF owns the Ramada Denver Midtown hotel (“Hotel”) at 2601 Zuni Street in Denver, Colorado.
	20. Defendant U. S. Motels Downtown, Inc. is a Colorado corporation with its principal place of business at10 East 120th Avenue, Northglenn, Colorado 80233.
	21. Defendant U. S. Motels Downtown, Inc. operates the Hotel.
	22. Ms. Marshall is a nationally renowned expert in disability policy.
	23. Ms. Marshall has been the Executive Director of several disability rights organizations and has operated businesses that provide consulting and training on disability-related policies and the requirements of civil rights laws that protect the righ...
	24. Ms. Marshall holds a Juris Doctor degree.
	25. At times material to this Complaint and currently, Ms. Marshall was and is the sole proprietor of Melissa Marshall Disability Policy Consulting.
	26. To fulfill a contract with the State of Colorado Department of Health Care Policy and Financing (“Department”), CCDC hired Ms. Marshall to provide training to Department staff in Denver, Colorado.
	27. Ms. Marshall’s training of Department staff was scheduled to occur in June of 2014.
	28. In anticipation of Ms. Marshall travelling to and staying in Denver, CCDC’s Executive Assistant, Marlene Murillo, contacted the Hotel to reserve a wheelchair accessible room for Ms. Marshall.
	29. CCDC’s Executive Director, Julie Reiskin, and Ms. Murillo selected Defendants’ Hotel because of its close proximity to Ms. Marshall’s training site and major public transportation routes, which is what Ms. Marshall planned to use to travel while s...
	30. Upon learning of the Hotel location and its proximity to public transportation routes, Ms. Marshall opted to bring her smaller motorized scooter, which has a range of approximately 1 to 5 miles, versus her larger motorized scooter, which has a ran...
	31.  Weeks prior to Ms. Marshall’s arrival, Ms. Murillo called the Hotel and reserved a wheelchair accessible room for Ms. Marshall from June 17 to June 21, 2014.
	32. Ms. Murillo provided CCDC’s credit card information to the Hotel to secure Ms. Marshall’s room.
	33. On May 23, 2014, Ms. Murillo received an e-mail from the Hotel confirming the reservation.
	34. Shortly after making the reservation for Ms. Marshall’s room, Ms. Murillo personally visited the Hotel to provide CCDC’s non-profit organization tax exemption information.
	35. While Ms. Murillo was at the Hotel, she spoke with a woman at the Hotel front desk who verified that the reservation that Ms. Murillo had made for Ms. Marshall was for a wheelchair accessible room.
	36. On the evening of June 16, 2014, the day before Ms. Marshall was scheduled to arrive in Denver, Ms. Reiskin e-mailed Ms. Murillo and requested that Ms. Murillo call the Hotel to ensure that an accessible room would be available for Ms. Marshall.
	37. That evening, Ms. Murillo called the Hotel and spoke with a woman at the front desk.
	38. Ms. Murillo informed the woman at the front desk that she wanted to verify that Ms. Marshall’s room would, in fact, be wheelchair accessible and available.
	39. The woman put Ms. Murillo on hold for a brief period.
	40. Upon returning to the phone, the woman then asked Ms. Murillo what time Ms. Marshall would arrive on June 17, and Ms. Murillo responded that Ms. Marshall’s plane was scheduled to land at approximately 6:30 p.m.
	41. On its website,0F  the Hotel informs patrons that check out is to occur before 12:00 p.m., and that check in is to occur after 3:00 p.m.
	42. The woman told Ms. Murillo that one of the accessible rooms would be available on the evening of June 17, 2014, as the individual who reserved the room would check out that afternoon, and the room would be cleaned by approximately 5:00 p.m.
	43. Ms. Murillo then e-mailed Ms. Reiskin to verify that she had contacted the Hotel and had been assured that Ms. Marshall’s room would be both available and wheelchair accessible.
	44. On June 17, 2014, after an unanticipated delay at the airport, Ms. Marshall, accompanied by Ms. Reiskin, arrived at the Hotel at approximately 10:00 p.m.
	45. Upon arriving, Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall searched for an accessible entrance to the Hotel.
	46. According to the Hotel’s website, there is “[f]lat terrain between parking and entrance[,]”the “Hotel entrance is wheel [sic] accessible[,]” and “Ramp Access[.]”
	47. Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall were unable to use the main, front doors of the Hotel because there was no flat terrain, curb ramp or ramp leading from the sidewalk or parking lot up the curb to the Hotel’s front doors.
	48. Instead, there is a two-and-a-half to five inch curb all the way around the sidewalk surrounding the Hotel’s front entrance.
	49. There was no signage on the Hotel lobby entrance indicating the location of an accessible route into the Hotel, causing Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall to nearly circumnavigate the Hotel, travelling through a parking lot in the dark in hopes of locat...
	50. Even if an individual who uses a wheelchair or scooter could access the Southeast front entrance or the North lobby entrance, there are stairs, making the front desk inaccessible from these entrances.
	51. Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall finally located an unmarked, poorly lit single door in the rear of the Hotel that allowed them access.
	52. Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall entered the back door of the Hotel and encountered a small elevator, which would only accommodate one wheelchair at a time.
	53. Ms. Reiskin went down the elevator first, and upon exiting the elevator, went to the Hotel’s front desk.
	54. Ms. Reiskin immediately noticed that there was no lowered portion of the Hotel’s front desk that would be accessible to an individual who uses a wheelchair.
	55. On information and belief, the Hotel has undergone renovations since January 26, 1992.
	56. Once the Hotel front desk clerk directed her attention to Ms. Reiskin, Ms. Reiskin informed her that she was there with Ms. Marshall, who was there to check in.
	57. The front desk clerk informed Ms. Reiskin that the Hotel had given Ms. Marshall’s wheelchair accessible room to another Hotel patron.
	58. The front desk clerk did not offer any other accommodation.
	59. Ms. Reiskin immediately protested and informed the clerk that Ms. Marshall required a wheelchair accessible room, and that CCDC had repeatedly communicated with the Hotel in order to ensure that Ms. Marshall’s room would be wheelchair accessible a...
	60. Although the front desk clerk agreed that CCDC had reserved a wheelchair accessible room, she informed Ms. Reiskin that the reservation only constituted a request for a wheelchair accessible room, which did not guarantee that a wheelchair accessib...
	61. The front desk clerk also informed Ms. Reiskin that the individual who was scheduled to leave the wheelchair accessible room decided to stay over, and that the Hotel allowed that Hotel patron to do so, despite the reservation for the wheelchair ac...
	62. Ms. Reiskin then requested that the Hotel front desk clerk contact nearby hotels to see if any had a wheelchair accessible room available, but the clerk refused.
	63. Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall then left the Hotel and went to nearby hotels to attempt to find a wheelchair accessible room elsewhere.
	64. Despite these efforts, they were unable to locate another wheelchair accessible room for the night, and thus Ms. Marshall ended up staying in a room that was not designed to be wheelchair accessible at a different hotel near Defendants’ Hotel for ...
	65. The ADA requires that accessible hotel rooms provide much more room for a patron who uses a wheelchair or scooter to navigate within the room and in the bathroom. Ms. Marshall found it very difficult to navigate in the room she ended up using that...
	66. The following day, June 17, 2014, Ms. Murillo spent several hours making telephone calls and conducting internet searches in order to find a wheelchair accessible room for the remainder of Ms. Marshall’s stay.
	67. Ms. Murillo was able to secure a wheelchair accessible room for the duration of Ms. Marshall’s stay at a third hotel.
	68. The third hotel was not located near the Department of Health Care Policy and Financing training site, and it was not near public transportation routes (one of the key reasons why the Hotel was selected in the first place), which caused Ms. Marsha...
	69. Defendants’ Hotel offers shuttle service to guests to the downtown area in Denver.
	70. The vehicle Defendants utilize as a shuttle is not accessible to individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility.
	71. The Hotel shuttle does not provide a ramp or wheelchair lift that would allow a Hotel patron who uses a wheelchair or scooter to access the vehicle.
	72. Defendants’ website states that hotel patrons may, “[m]ake an appointment to take our free shuttle to downtown Denver attractions and sports venue from 9 a.m. to 9 p.m. daily.”
	73. Defendants claim to provide equivalent service to individuals in wheelchairs and motorized scooters by contacting local taxi companies, Metro Taxi and Union Taxi, to request wheelchair accessible transportation.
	74. Union Taxi does not provide wheelchair accessible taxi service.
	75. Ms. Reiskin and several other CCDC members who use wheelchairs have attempted to utilize Metro Taxi’s wheelchair accessible taxi service on multiple occasions, both privately and via the Regional Transportation District’s (“RTD”) Access-a-Cab prog...
	76. Metro Taxi’s service for individuals who do not need wheelchair access happens in a short period of time from the time the call for the taxi is placed and the time the taxi arrives to provide service.
	77. Metro Taxi’s service for individuals who use wheelchairs and motorized scooters often takes several hours to respond to requests for accessible taxis, and in some instances, Metro Taxi does not have any accessible taxis available at all.
	78. Often, when an individual who uses a wheelchair or motorized scooter calls Metro Taxi and requests a wheelchair accessible vehicle, Metro Taxi will respond by saying they will “try” to find a wheelchair accessible vehicle, but there is no guarante...
	79. When the Hotel shuttle is operating, guests who do not use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility are not forced to make a request for transportation and then to wait several hours for transportation, or faced with the prospect that no tra...
	80. There are no accessible parking spaces near the front entrance of the lobby of the Hotel.
	81. There are designated accessible parking spaces on the other side of the building from where the Hotel lobby is located.
	82. There is one space that is designated as van accessible that has an adjacent access aisle; however, on information and belief, that access aisle is not 96 inches wide, and the parking space is approximately 96 inches wide.
	83. None of the designated accessible spaces, other than the single designated van accessible space, has an adjacent 96 inches wide access aisle.
	84. None of the designated accessible spaces is 132 inches wide with an adjacent 60 inch wide access aisle.
	85. None of the designated accessible parking spaces has an adjacent 96 inch wide access aisle.
	86. Except for the van space mentioned above, the designated accessible parking spaces have no access aisles at all.
	87. CCDC is a statewide organization based in Denver, Colorado.
	88. CCDC’s office is located approximately three miles from the Hotel, directly Southeast on Speer Boulevard.
	89. CCDC hosts several events throughout the year, including an annual statewide meeting in Denver, for which CCDC assists its members from outside of the Denver metropolitan area with making reservations for, securing, and paying for wheelchair acces...
	90. As in this case, CCDC also hosts multiple individuals who use wheelchairs or scooters from outside of the Denver metropolitan area as guests at its events, to provide trainings, and to otherwise fulfill CCDC’s organizational objectives. CCDC assis...
	91. CCDC uses nearby hotels for its conferences and meetings.
	92. According to its website, the Hotel provides meeting and event facilities.
	93. The location of the Hotel is beneficial to CCDC for the types of events, meetings and other activities it undertakes.
	94. The location of the Hotel is beneficial for CCDC when it hosts out-of-town guests because of its close proximity to CCDC’s office.
	95. CCDC would like to utilize the Hotel’s services in the future and will do so if Defendants remedy the unlawful disability discrimination set forth in this Complaint
	96. Ms. Reiskin occasionally must stay at hotels in the Denver metropolitan area for numerous reasons, including without limitation when inclement weather prevents her from travelling to her home, and when she does, she requires a wheelchair accessibl...
	97. Ms. Reiskin would like to utilize the Hotel’s services in the future and will do so if Defendants remedy the unlawful disability discrimination set forth in this Complaint.
	98. Ms. Marshall travels to the Denver metropolitan area for numerous reasons, including without limitation to visit friends and provide consulting services, and when she does, she requires a wheelchair accessible room.
	99. Ms. Marshall will travel to the Denver Metropolitan area in the near future.
	100. Ms. Marshall would like to utilize the Hotel’s services in the future and will do so if Defendants remedy the unlawful disability discrimination set forth in this Complaint.
	101. Ms. Marshall, Ms. Reiskin and CCDC have been harmed and will continue to be harmed by Defendants’ failure to guarantee and reserve wheelchair accessible rooms and refusal to make other readily achievable modifications at the Hotel.
	102. CCDC’s purpose is to promote independence, self-reliance, and full participation for people with all types of disabilities, and to combat discrimination against individuals with disabilities, through advocacy, education, research and training. As...
	103. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities. This effort and this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by Defen...
	104. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable and perceptible injury to Ms. Marshall, Ms. Reiskin and CCDC. Those injuries include, but are not limited to, those described herein.
	105. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein.
	106. Title III of the ADA provides, “No individual shall be discriminated against on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommoda...
	107. Defendant University of Nevada, Las Vegas Foundation owns the Hotel.
	108. Defendant U. S. Motels Downtown, Inc. operates the Hotel.
	109. The Hotel is a place of public accommodation. 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(A).
	110. Ms. Marshall and Ms. Reiskin are individuals with disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 12102.
	111. Ms. Marshall, Ms. Reiskin and CCDC were discriminated against on the basis of disability by the owners and operators of the Hotel.
	112. Ms. Marshall was denied access to the Hotel’s goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages and accommodations due to the Hotel’s failure to guarantee and reserve for her a wheelchair accessible room.
	113. Under the ADA:
	It shall be discriminatory to subject an individual or class of individuals on the basis of a disability or disabilities of such individual or class, directly, or through contractual licensing, or other arrangements, to a denial of the opportunity of ...
	42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(1)(A)(i).
	114. Pursuant to the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) regulations implementing the ADA:
	A public accommodation that owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of lodging shall, with respect to reservations made by any means, including by telephone, in-person, or through a third party . . .
	(iii) Ensure that accessible guest rooms are held for use by individuals with disabilities until all other guest rooms of that type have been rented and the accessible room requested is the only remaining room of that type;
	(iv) Reserve, upon request, accessible guest rooms or specific types of guest rooms and ensure that the guest rooms requested are blocked and removed from all reservation systems; and
	(v) Guarantee that the specific accessible guest room reserved through its reservations service is held for the reserving customer, regardless of whether a specific room is held in response to reservations made by others.
	28 C.F.R. § 36.302(e)(1).
	115. The DOJ has issued technical assistance and guidance made publicly available on the internet that addresses changes to the 2010 regulations. See, e.g. “Fact Sheet: Highlights of the Final Rule to Amend the Department of Justice’s Regulation Imple...
	116. In this Fact Sheet, the DOJ summarizes its rule changes with respect to wheelchair accessible hotel room reservations as follows:
	8. Reservations Made by Places of Lodging. The rule establishes requirements for reservations made by places of lodging, including procedures that will allow individuals with disabilities to make reservations for accessible guest rooms during the same...
	See http://www.ada.gov/regs2010/factsheets/title3_factsheet.html (emphasis added) (last accessed December 12, 2014). See also 28 C.F.R, pt. 36, app. A (Guidance on Revisions to ADA Regulation on Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability by Public A...
	117.  According to another informational bulletin available for free online from the DOJ entitled “Expanding Your Market: Accessible Customer Service Practices for Hotel and Lodging Guests with Disabilities,” with respect to “Reservations,” states the...
	Once an accessible room is guaranteed to a prospective guest with a disability, an accessible room must be available to him or her upon arrival at the hotel. If an unexpected problem occurs that makes it impossible for the hotel to provide the accessi...
	118. Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall were subject to discrimination by the Hotel on the basis of their disabilities due to the multiple physical barriers to access they encountered, including without limitation the inaccessibility of the front entrance, ...
	119. Under the ADA, portions of existing facilities, such as the Hotel, that are altered “after January 26, 1992, shall be made so as to ensure that, to the maximum extent feasible, the altered portions of the facility are readily accessible to and us...
	120. On information and belief, Defendants have failed to ensure that portions of its facility altered since January 26, 1992, are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs.
	121. Moreover, “[a] public accommodation shall remove architectural barriers in existing facilities . . . where such removal is readily achievable, i.e., easily accomplishable and able to be carried out without much difficulty or expense.” 28 C.F.R. §...
	122. Among the specifically identified steps the DOJ lists as examples of readily achievable barrier removal are:
	(1) Installing ramps; [and]
	(2) Making curb cuts in sidewalks and entrances[.]
	28 C.F.R. § 36.304(b)(1)-(2).
	123. The DOJ has prioritized the measures a public accommodation is urged to take to comply with the barrier removal requirements. As set forth in the regulations, “First, a public accommodation should take measures to provide access to a place of pub...
	124. The DOJ Standards for Accessible Design require that sales and service counters provide a space that is accessible to customers who use wheelchairs, which is no higher than 36 inches above the floor. Standards for Accessible Design §§ 904.4.1 and...
	125. If the service counter at the Hotel was renovated at any time after 1992, it should have been made accessible to customers who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters.
	126. On information and belief, it was readily achievable for Defendants to make the Hotel service counter accessible to patrons who use wheelchairs and scooters long before Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall visited the Hotel.
	127. On information and belief, Defendants have recently modified the Hotel’s service counter.
	128. When Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall went to the Hotel, the service counter did not provide an accessible portion.
	129. “Where not all entrances [are wheelchair accessible], entrances [that are wheelchair accessible] shall be identified by the International Symbol of Accessibility . . . . Directional signs  . . . that indicate the location of the nearest [wheelcha...
	130. The front Southeast entrance of the Hotel leads to stairs, making it so there is no accessible way into the hotel from this entrance.
	131. There was no signage at the Hotel’s inaccessible front Southeast entrance indicating where a wheelchair accessible route or accessible entrance was located.
	132. There is another entrance on the North side of the Hotel.
	133. The North entrance also leads to stairs, and there is no accessible route to the Hotel lobby by that entrance.
	134. There was no signage at the Hotel’s inaccessible North entrance directing patrons who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters to a wheelchair accessible route or accessible entrance.
	135. There was no signage at the Hotel’s West back door indicating where a wheelchair accessible entrance was located.
	136. On information and belief, it was and has been readily achievable for Defendants to install ADA-compliant signage at the Hotel indicating the location of wheelchair accessible routes and entrances.
	137. Defendants have failed to remove architectural barriers at the Hotel when it was readily achievable for them to do so, as set forth in this Complaint.
	138. In existing facilities (those in existence prior to 1990 when the ADA was enacted), places of public accommodation are required to, inter alia, provide accessible parking spaces with access aisles if doing so is readily achievable. 42 U.S.C. § 12...
	139. An accessible parking space is one that is 96 inches wide with an adjacent access aisle of 60 inches in width; a van parking space is at least 132 inches wide with a 60 inch wide access aisle or 96 inches wide with an adjacent 96 inch access aisl...
	140. On information and belief, it was and is readily achievable for Defendants to install ADA-compliant accessible parking spaces and access aisles at the Hotel.
	141. Ms. Reiskin and CCDC have been subjected to discrimination on the basis of their relationship and association with Ms. Marshall. See 42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(1)(E) (“It shall be discriminatory to exclude or otherwise deny equal goods, services, facil...
	142. On information and belief, the Hotel shuttle operates on a fixed route, travelling from the Hotel to downtown Denver, and back, on approximately an hourly basis.
	143. The Hotel shuttle seats approximately seven individuals, plus a driver.
	144. Ms. Reiskin and other CCDC members who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility are unable to utilize the Hotel shuttle service because the vehicle is not accessible to individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility.
	145. Under the ADA:
	If a private entity which operates a fixed route system and which is not [primarily engaged in the business of transporting people] purchases or leases a vehicle with a seating capacity of 16 passengers or less (including the driver) for use on such s...
	42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(2)(B)(ii) (emphasis added).
	146. On information and belief, Defendants do not provide an equivalent level of service to individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters, as they provide to patrons who do not have disabilities with th...
	147. Pursuant to the DOJ regulations, “[a] public accommodation subject to this section shall comply with the requirements pertaining to vehicles and transportation systems in the regulations issued by the Secretary of Transportation pursuant to [the ...
	148. Pursuant to the regulations promulgated by the Secretary of Transportation, “[t]he standards of § 37.105 [of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations] shall be used to determine if the entity is providing equivalent service.” 49 C.F.R. § 37.171.
	149. Section 37.105 of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, sets forth service characteristics which shall be equivalent to avoid discrimination, including “(1) Schedules/headways (if the service is fixed route); [and] (2) Response time (if the serv...
	150. Defendants do not operate the shuttle service for Hotel patrons who have disabilities that prevent them from accessing the Hotel shuttle that is equivalent with respect to schedules/headways and response times.
	151. The equivalent service standard also requires that the Hotel’s transportation service for individuals who use wheelchairs and scooters be equivalent with respect to the following: “Hours and days of service; Availability of information;” and “Res...
	152. Defendants do not operate a shuttle service that is equivalent with respect to the hours and days of service the Hotel shuttle operates for Hotel patrons who have disabilities that prevent them from accessing the Hotel shuttle.
	153. Defendants do not make information regarding how to access Hotel transportation available to Hotel patrons who have disabilities that prevent them from accessing the Hotel shuttle.
	154. Defendants require Hotel patrons who cannot access the Hotel shuttle to request that the Hotel contact a taxi company to try to reserve a wheelchair accessible vehicle when all other Hotel patrons simply board the fixed route shuttle that runs be...
	155. Defendants’ utilization of a demand responsive service in lieu of its regularly operating, fixed route service results in inequalities in service between non-disabled individuals who can simply use the Hotel’s fixed route system and individuals w...
	156. Individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility are forced to request that the Hotel request a wheelchair accessible taxi, then wait an indeterminate amount of time for a wheelchair accessible taxi service to fulfill the reques...
	157. Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiffs on the basis of disability as set forth in this Complaint.
	158. Plaintiffs have been, and will continue to be, injured, damaged and aggrieved by Defendants’ discrimination.
	159. In the absence of the injunction sought herein, Plaintiffs are likely to encounter the same discriminatory treatment in violation of Title III of the ADA and its implementing regulations.
	160. The participation of individual CCDC members is not necessary to grant the relief sought herein.
	161.    Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein.
	162.    The Hotel is a place of public accommodation. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(1).
	163.    Under the CADA, “[i]t is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for a person, directly or indirectly, to refuse, withhold from, or deny to an individual or a group, because of disability . . . the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, service...
	164.    Pursuant to the regulations implementing the CADA during the incidents giving rise to this Complaint:
	Whenever possible, the interpretation of state law [the provisions of Parts 3 through 7 of Article 34 of Title 24, C.R.S. (1988), as amended] concerning disability shall follow the interpretations established in Federal regulations adopted to implemen...
	3 Colo. Code Regs. 708-1:60.1.(C) (bracketed text in original).
	165.     Ms. Reiskin and Ms. Marshall are individuals with disabilities. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-301(2.5).
	166.     CCDC is a membership organization consisting of people with disabilities and their non-disabled allies who, because of Defendants’ discrimination, remain subject to unlawful disability discrimination.
	167.     Defendants have unlawfully discriminated against Plaintiffs on the basis of their disabilities as set forth in this Complaint.
	168.     Plaintiffs have been, and will continue to be, injured, damaged and aggrieved by Defendants’ discrimination.
	169.     In the absence of the injunction sought herein, Plaintiffs are likely to encounter Defendants’ same discriminatory actions and facilities.
	1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;
	2. That this Court issue an Order declaring Defendants to be in violation of Title III of the ADA and in violation of the CADA;
	3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants:  (a) to ensure that wheelchair accessible rooms are guaranteed when reserved by or for individuals with disabilities; (b) to make any and all alterations that were made by Defendants since th...
	4. That this Court award Plaintiffs damages;
	5. That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and
	6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper and equitable.

